IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 90,207

DAVID YOUNG,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER CHIEF ASSISTANT CCRC Fla. Bar No. 0899641 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 1444 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Young was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County (R. 3871), and was sentenced to death (R. 4249). This Court affirmed on direct appeal. <u>Young v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1991). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Young v. Florida</u>, 502 U.S. 1105 (1992).

A. TRIAL PROCEEDINGS.

Mr. Young was convicted and sentenced to death for the August 31, 1986, shooting of Clarence John Bell. The State's theory was that Mr. Young and three teenaged friends --Gerald Saffold, Gerald Harris, and Tony Holmes -- drove from Riviera Beach to Jupiter with the intent of stealing a car (R. 2244). They drove to Jupiter Plantation Condominiums where they saw a Trans-Am; the State's witnesses provided conflicting testimony about who approached the car: Saffold testified that Mr. Young and Harris approached the car (R. 3353), while Holmes testified that Harris and Saffold approached the car (R. 3445). The boys returned to Mr. Young's car when they heard noise inside an apartment (R. 2246). Mr. Bell, the owner of the Trans-Am, came outside armed with a revolver (R. 2247). He approached Mr. Young's car, put his gun to the windshield, and ordered the boys to get out of the car and lie on their stomachs in the parking lot (R. 2248). Bell repeatedly threatened to shoot Mr. Young in the head if any of the boys moved (Id.).

Bell and Mr. Young both fired their weapons (R. 2251). The State alleged that Mr. Young shot first, while the defense argued that Bell shot first (<u>Id</u>.). At some point, Bell shot into the ground toward Harris after the boy turned his head slightly (R. 2262). Harris then ran from the scene, and Bell fired two more shots toward him (<u>Id</u>.). Mr. Young fired once

from the ground, hitting Bell (Id.). With his gun pointed at Mr. Young, Bell ordered him to move around from behind the car where he had run after firing the first shot (Id.). Mr. Young fired a second shot, hitting Bell again. Mr. Young got back in his car with Saffold and Holmes; Harris had already fled the scene on foot (Id.). As Mr. Young drove away, he threw the shotgun from the car (R. 3377).

Mr. Young was arrested that night at Riviera Beach and taken into custody. He was initially questioned at the Riviera Beach Police Department by Detective Murray, of the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office, where he denied shooting Mr. Bell (R. 3196). This interview was not taped, and Detective Murray did not take notes (R. 3209). Mr. Young was then taken to the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office by Detective Murray and Detective Martin, of the Jupiter Police Department, where the questioning continued and was taped (R. 3211). At this time, Detective Murray already had statements from Harris and Saffold implicating Mr. Young as the shooter but also indicating that Bell shot first (R. 3206, 3218). At the Sheriff's Office, Mr. Young continued to deny shooting Bell. Mr. Young was told that if he cooperated, his parents could get him out on bond, that the police would not forget about him and let him sit in jail, and that the police would talk to the State Attorney on his behalf (R. 3219-20, 3240, 3253). At some point, the tape was turned off and a conversation was held among Mr. Young, his mother, and the police. The tape was turned back on, and Mr. Young made a statement confirming Harris' statement that Mr. Bell shot first and that Mr. Young shot in self-defense (R. 3281). He was then charged with second-degree murder (R. 3217).

Mr. Young testified at a suppression hearing that while the tape was turned off he

was promised by both detectives that if he cooperated, he would be charged with seconddegree murder (R, 3253). His mother, Olivia Young, confirmed that a detective told Mr. Young that if he told the truth, he would only be charged with second-degree murder (R. 3225). Mrs. Young also testified that she received a phone call that evening informing her that Mr. Young had been charged with second-degree murder (R. 3235). Detectives Murray and Martin claimed that they made no promises and that Mr. Young cooperated because the police already had a statement from Harris implicating Mr. Young in Bell's death (R. 3239, 3274). Detective Martin testified that while the tape was turned off he spoke to Mr. Young about religion and "about how [his mother] would feel about the difference between being truthful and honest, and lying" (R. 3275). Immediately after the tape was turned back on. Assistant State Attorney Paul Moyle's name was mentioned for the first time, implying that the untaped conversation was not limited to religion (R. 3310). Detective Murray, who was not present in the room when the tape was turned off, testified that after Mr. Young confessed, he told him he would be charged with second-degree murder (R. 3210). Detective Martin did not remember second-degree murder ever being mentioned (R. 3289). Detective Murray wrote the probable cause affidavit charging Mr. Young with second-degree murder; he explained that this was the result of a "misunderstanding" between himself, his supervisor, and State Attorney Moyle (R. 3243-44). The charge was later changed to firstdegree murder.

At trial, the State presented the testimony of three witnesses who stated that Mr. Young shot first and two witnesses who stated that Bell shot first. Two state witnesses were unsure of the order of shots they heard. Michael L. Brinker, a Florida Highway Patrol

officer moonlighting as a security guard at Jupiter Plantation, testified that at 2:00 a.m. on August 31, 1986, he heard "a loud bang" that sounded to him like a sawed-off shotgun (R. 2769-70). A few seconds later, he heard "two rapid-fired, lot quieter, shorter[,] snappier rounds which sound like a pistol" (R. 2770). After the quick, quiet shots, Brinker heard "the fourth and last loud banging of what sounded like a shotgun" which was similar to or the same as the first shot (R. 2773). Brinker testified that he had no doubt that the quieter shots sounded like a .38 caliber revolver and that the first and fourth shots sounded like a shotgun (R. 2771, 2774). On cross-examination, Brinker acknowledged that he was approximately 400 yards from the crime scene when he heard the shots (R. 2794).

The State also presented the testimony of two neighbors who testified that the shotgun had been fired first. Robert Melhorn testified that his wife woke him on the night of August 31, 1986 (R. 2814). He first went to the sliding glass door in their bedroom and heard "commotion out in the parking lot;" he decided to call 911 because he "determined that John [Bell] was out in the parking lot and he needed some help" (<u>Id</u>.). Melhorn then went out into a courtyard that was enclosed by a fence through which he could not see the parking lot (R. 2815). Melhorn heard what he described as "a loud boom," which the State Attorney rephrased as "a loud blast" (R. 2816-17). According to Melhorn, this first shot was more consistent with a shotgun than a pistol (R. 2819). After the first shot, Melhorn heard "some scuffling" and "mumbling" followed by "two clicks" and then "another click or a faint pop" (<u>Id</u>.). He described the faint pop as "a pistol that was misfiring." (R. 2820). Melhorn

I heard the blast, and I am thinking to myself -- of course I am behind the fence, it is dark, I cannot see anything. And I am thinking in my mind

that somebody is shooting a warning shot saying that "this gun is loaded, I am firing a warning shot." I do not like what is happening. Then I hear these two clicks and I am thinking, "Why is somebody pulling the trigger on a pistol and you just hear the hammer snap?"

And I could have heard -- I did hear -- I am not -- this is difficult for me to remember, but I heard another pop which I thought could have been something else misfiring, another type of thing.

Then I heard the loud boom. But of course I am behind a fence, it is dark and it is happening very, very fast. . . .

(**R**. 2820).

On cross-examination, Melhorn explained that he was between eighty and ninety feet away when he heard the shots (R. 2831). He was also questioned about the clicks and pop that he remembered hearing between the two louder shots, and he admitted his uncertainty: "I -- as best that I can remember, I heard two -- two clicks, then a pop, and it possibly could have been a second pop. I cannot swear to that. But I know I heard two clicks and a faint pop, or a faint -- a faint shot. That is less -- less than the first boom. Then another boom" (R. 2840).

The State also presented Dana Thomas,¹ who testified that when she heard arguing outside, she went to the balcony on the second-floor of her apartment where she had a clear view of the parking lot (R. 2965). Thomas testified that she had no doubt that the first sound she heard was a shotgun (R. 2974). She also testified that simultaneous with the first shot, she saw a four to six-inch diameter flash that was nowhere near where she saw the white man standing (R. 2975). After the first shot, Thomas heard three "small" shots that sounded "[1]ike a cap gun" and were accompanied by "small sparks;" she then heard a final

¹Thomas was thirteen years old at the time.

shot that originated from the same location as the first shot (R. 2979-80, 2782). The final shot "sounded like a small cannon, with a large spark of light, a large flash of light" (R. 2982-83). Thomas testified that the three quieter shots came in quick succession and that they originated from where the white man was standing (R. 2984).

On cross-examination, Thomas was questioned about the inconsistencies between her testimony and the statement she gave to police. For example, in her statement to the police, she stated that the white man had the shotgun (R. 3000). She testified that she meant to say "gun" rather than "shotgun" (R. 3002). She also explained that she told the police there were no lights from the small caliber shots because she did not remember seeing any flashes at that time (R. 3008). She explained that she "got confused on that part because the way they asked me I really didn't understand it to begin with" (R. 3009). Thomas could not explain when she remembered seeing flashes of light from the small caliber gun or why her trial testimony differed from her initial statements.

Dr. Frederick Hobin, the medical examiner, speculated about the order of shots fired based on his examination of Bell's injuries. He testified that Bell had an injury on the left side of his face in the eye area that is referred to as a "gunshot tattoo injury" (R. 2929). He explained that this type of injury is "produced by grains of gunpowder that have not been burned but rather strike the skin and produce a little tiny bruise" and that "these injuries are produced by the presence of a firearm being discharged in close proximity with the skin surface, whether or not it is fired by yourself or another person" (Id.). Dr. Hobin testified that a revolver discharges unburned gunpowder from the sides of the cylinder as well as from the barrel but not from behind the gun (R. 2930-31). Based on this evidence, Dr. Hobin

speculated that in this case, Bell had been shot and had fallen to the ground before shooting his revolver. He explained:

If I believe that these injuries were received in this way, that is a scenario which, in my view is reasonable, and it could have been that he was injured, fallen to the ground, and then attempted to defend himself by discharging that firearm. But he discharged it in a very abnormal way, and the reason he may have discharged in an abnormal way was because he was disabled.

(R. 2935). Dr. Hobin warned the State Attorney that his suggestion about the manner in which Mr. Bell fired his revolver was only a "fair" or "reasonable" explanation of what happened; he emphasized the lack of certainty in his testimony: "I'm not able to say exactly what happened" (R. 2936).

On cross-examination, Dr. Hobin admitted that he could not determine within a reasonable degree of medical certainty Bell's position when he shot the revolver (R. 2938). He also admitted that he could not determine the position of Bell's body when he was wounded and that he could have been pointing his revolver at someone when he was shot (R. 2940). The State had no other evidence to support its theory that Mr. Bell was disabled before shooting his revolver.

Two of the State's witnesses testified in direct contradiction to this testimony. Gerald Saffold and Tony Holmes, who were closer to Bell and Mr. Young when the shots were fired than any other witness, both testified that Bell fired first. Saffold testified that Bell came over to Mr. Young's car, pointed his revolver at Mr. Young, and ordered everyone out of the car (R. 3356-57). Bell "told us anyone one of us move he was going to shoot us" (R. 3361). He also threatened to blow Mr. Young's head off if the three other boys did not get out of the car (R. 3403). Saffold testified that Mr. Young picked up his weapon only after

Bell pointed his revolver at Mr. Young's face and threatened to shoot him if any of them did not obey his orders; Mr. Young did not point his weapon at Bell through the windshield (R. 3357). After everyone was out of the car and lying on the ground in the parking lot, Bell again threatened to shoot if anyone moved (R. 3361). After Gerald Harris moved slightly, Bell fired once into the ground near where the four boys were lying (R. 3403). Harris then ran from the scene and Bell shot in Harris' direction (R. 3404). After Bell fired into the ground, Mr. Young shot once from the ground (R. 3405). The second time that Mr. Young fired, he was standing near the front of the car; Bell was still standing and aiming his revolver at Mr. Young (<u>Id</u>.).

Tony Holmes testified for the State that he remained in Mr. Young's car and did not approach Bell's car (R. 3424). He saw Bell coming toward Mr. Young's car with a gun (R. 3427). Holmes explained what happened when Bell reached Mr. Young's car: "He put the gun on David. He had told us if he were going to shoot he would shoot David" (R. 3429). As Mr. Young got out of the car, Bell "grabbed David and put [his gun] to his head and he said, 'If any one of you niggers run, I'm going to kill David. I am going to shoot him in the head'" (R. 3447-48). Holmes cooperated because he believed Bell's threats:

Q He had that shiny gun to David's head?

A Yes.

Q And he said, "If any of you niggers run -- "

A He was going to shoot.

Q Did you think you were --

A I didn't run because I thought he was going to shoot him. Didn't nobody of us run.

(R. 3448).

Holmes explained that throughout the encounter, Bell never stopped threatening them (R. 3456). After the boys were lying on the ground, Bell shot into the ground near Holmes, Saffold, and Harris (R. 3433, 3454). After Bell shot once, "Jerry [Harris] jumped and ran, and then he shot at Jerry two times -- Harris" (R. 3434). After the first shot, Holmes ran back into Mr. Young's car (R. 3435, 3437, 3455). Mr. Young was still lying on the ground when he fired the first shot (R. 3436). After Bell was hit the first time, "[h]e got up and started pointing the gun at David, saying, 'Come from around the car,' and he said, 'I'm going to come from around the car.' When he came around, the man kept pointing the gun, so he ran back around the other side of the car" (R. 3437). Mr. Young then fired the The State also presented two witnesses who were unable to determine second shot (Id.). the order of shots fired. Mr. Bell's son Michael testified that when the shots were fired he was in the courtyard near his apartment about two or three feet from the gate (R. 2307). He heard "two, maybe three shots, and then the sounds of clicking. When I heard the shots I stopped, and I heard the clicking, I didn't know what the clicking was. I thought it was empty chambers . . . and about midway through the parking lot I heard another shot" (R. 2308). Michael Bell testified that his father yelled, "Michael, come here," after the first two or three shots were fired (R. 2309). Although he testified that the clicking sound was "similar to that of someone reloading a shotgun" (R. 2309), at the time of the incident, he thought the clicking sound was caused by empty chambers in his father's gun (R. 2417). He testified that he could not differentiate between any of the shots and that the final shot was not distinguishable from the other four he heard (R. 2310, 2419).

Christopher Griffiths, Mr. Bell's neighbor, was calling 911 when he heard the shots fired. He heard a total of five shots, fired in three separate groups (R. 2624). Although at Mr. Young's trial Mr. Griffiths claimed to be certain about the order of shots and that "the first and last were louder than the three in the middle" (R. 2628), at his deposition he stated that the shots could have come from either a pistol or a shotgun (R. 2655). Griffiths also told the police that the shots occurred while he was on the phone with the operator and that the first shot was "the least detailed" because his attention was focused on the telephone call (R. 2646).²

The State's other witnesses confirmed Holmes' and Saffold's testimony that Bell was yelling and threatening Mr. Young and the three other boys. Michael Bell testified that when he and his father got to Mr. Young's car, his father ordered the occupants to get out (R. 2298). The driver (Mr. Young) wanted to leave, but Bell pointed his gun at him and made him get out of the car (<u>Id</u>.). Michael Bell explained what happened next: "The passenger hesitated on getting out of the car and my dad kind of leaned down and aimed the gun at the defendant, and said, 'Get out of the car now or I will shoot your friend'" (R. 2299). Mr. Young, who was already out of the car, told his friends to obey: "The person that was laying on the ground said, 'Get out of the car, man. Listen to it. Just get out of the car'" (R. 2400). Michael Bell testified that his "father's voice was elevated and he was screaming and gave me the impression that he was very nervous" (<u>Id</u>.). Michael Bell went inside to call the police; he then returned to the parking lot with a hammer (R. 2303). At that time, his father

²The portion of the tape containing the relevant conversation was somehow erased from the original tape (R. 4324). The trial court ruled that copies of the tape could not be admitted and prohibited any witness from referring to the tape (R. 4424-25).

"was just covering the general vicinity" with his gun (Id.). His father issued a general warning: "my dad said, 'Watch out, in case one of these guys try something, I have to shoot them, I don't want anything to ricochet and hit anyone else that might be in the line of fire'" (R. 2306).

Griffiths confirmed that Mr. Bell was yelling and threatening Mr. Young and his friends. He testified that he heard a "commotion" in the parking lot: "I heard what I took to be an irrational man, obviously raising his voice as loud as he could, for whatever reason, be it scare tactics, enough to get me out of bed and to the window so that I could hear better" (R. 2523). Griffiths testified to what he heard:

Q Did you hear the mention of a .357 pistol and threat to kill?

A Yes, I did.

Q Did you hear, and I must use these words in court, did you hear the words regarding "Motherfucker, I will blow your head off"?

A "If you move I will blow your head off," and "Motherfucker," amongst other expletives that I really can't recall, but that was not the only one. It was a whole conversation of them.

Q Did you hear somebody say, "Stay face-down on the ground and don't move"?

A Yes, I did.

(R. 2623-24).

Robert Melhorn also confirmed that Bell was yelling and threatening to shoot: "He said something to the fact that, 'You are trying to steal my car. Don't move or I will shoot you'" (R. 2816). He testified that Bell sounded like he was trying to scare and intimidate someone and that "he seemed like he was excited, seemed like he was in trouble" (Id.).

Melhorn heard Bell say "Don't move, mother fucker, or I will shoot you" three or four times (R. 2837). At his deposition, Melhorn was also questioned about Mr. Bell's threats and he commented: "I am thinking to myself, you know, you only say so much to somebody, somebody is going to drastically break loose in a minute, you know" (R. 2840).

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