IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 23 1998 CLERK, SURFEME COURT 8y_ Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID YOUNG,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 90,207

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH, LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300, WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

,

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

E. Failure to object to closing argument

Finally, as for Young's allegation that defense counsel failed to object to several of the State's comments during its penaltyphase closing argument, the trial court made the following findings in denying this claim for relief:

Finally, Defendant alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to numerous comments during the State's penalty-phase closing argument which allegedly prejudiced his right to a fair trial. This Court finds this allegation procedurally barred. Defendant could have challenged the State's comments on direct appeal, and may not escape the bar by restyling the issue as one of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Medina</u> <u>v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

Regardless, Defendant has failed to show prejudice. In Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802, 808-09 (Fla. 1988), upon which Defendant relies, the supreme court found similar, though not identical, comments improper, but it did not find the comments sufficiently egregious to taint the jury's recommendation. "'In the penalty phase of a murder trial, which resulting in a recommendation is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant our vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penaltyphase trial.'" Id. at 809 (quoting Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985)). Although the supreme court later vacated a death sentence in Taylor v. State, 583 So. 2d 323, 329-30 (Fla. 1991), based on similar comments by the State, it did so because the State consistently ignored the court's Jackson opinion, and because it could not say that the offending argument was harmless under the facts of that case. Both Jackson and Taylor issued after Defendant's trial. Regardless, in <u>Jackson</u>, the State's comments in as Defendant's case were not so egregious as to warrant a new sentencing proceeding. Therefore, this allegation is hereby denied.

(PCR VIII 1303).

. . .

¥ 1

The trial court properly denied this claim. All of the alleged prosecutorial misconduct appears in the direct appeal record. Young could have and should have challenged the comments

on direct appeal. <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1995). To overcome the procedural bar, Young challenged the comments under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, this Court has repeatedly stated that "[a] procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel." <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (same). Therefore, as the trial court found, this claim was procedurally barred and properly denied as such.

If for some reason the bar does not apply, the trial court properly found that Young failed to prove prejudice. Given the highly subjective nature of closing argument and the high standard for reversal based on prosecutorial misconduct, defense counsel's failure to object cannot be deemed per se unreasonable. In other words, it cannot be said that no reasonable attorney under the circumstances would have waived an objection to the State's comments. <u>Cf. Ferguson v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1992) (affirming denial of allegation that counsel failed to object to state's closing argument, noting that "[t]he decision not to object is a tactical one."). Moreover, the comments, though similar to those in Jackson and Taylor, if erroneous, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in the context of this case. Thus, counsel cannot be faulted for failing to raise a nonmeritorious claim. <u>See</u> Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1067 (Fla. 1994).

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XXI, RELATING TO SELECTION OF THE PETIT JURY VENIRE (Restated).

In Claim XXI of his second amended 3.850 motion, Young alleged that his petit jury venire was not a fair cross-section of the community because it was drawn from the voter registration list in Palm Beach County. (PCR VII 1223-31). In summarily denying this claim, the trial court made the following findings:

> Claim XXI, relating to Defendant's allegation that he was denied a fair trial because his petit jury was chosen from a voter registration list which under-represented nonwhites, and thus his jury did not contain a fair cross-section of the community, fails to relate sufficiently specific facts to state a claim for relief. Cf. Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989). Moreover, this issue could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Thus, it is procedurally barred. Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1067 (Fla. 1994). Regardless, the State's method of selecting juries from voter registration lists has repeatedly been upheld. E.g., Chandler, 634 So. 2d at 1068 n.3; Hendrix v. State, 637 So. 2d 916, 920 (Fla. 1994) ("[T]his Court has previously ruled that voter registration lists are a permissible means of selecting venirepersons, even where variations between the number of minor residents and registered voters exist. Brvant v. State, 386 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1980)."). Therefore, this claim is hereby denied.

(PCR VIII 1310-11).

ι τι τ

> The record supports the trial court's ruling. Other than conclusory allegations, Young provided no record or statistical support for his claim. Rather, Young alleged that "[w]ithout an

evidentiary hearing [he could not] fully plead this claim." (PCR VII 1231). He also claimed that the State was withholding public records that would somehow support this claim. (PCR VII 1231). As with other claims for relief, a defendant may not simply make conclusory allegations and expect an evidentiary hearing. Cf. Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989). Moreover, as the trial court found, Young could have and should have raised this Thus, it was properly denied as claim on direct appeal. procedurally barred. Cf. Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1067 (Fla. 1994). Finally, this Court has previously rejected similar claims. E.g., Robinson v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S85, 88-89 (Fla. Feb. 12, 1998); Chandler, 634 So. 2d at 1068 n.3; Hendrix v. State, 637 So. 2d 916, 920 (Fla. 1994) ("[T]his Court has previously ruled that voter registration lists are a permissible means of selecting venirepersons, even where minor variations between the number of residents and registered voters exist. Bryant v. State, 386 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1980)."). Since Young failed would warrant to allege any facts or circumstances that reconsideration of this claim, the trial court properly denied it alternatively on the merits.

. .

• 1

On appeal, Young alleges that, "without a tactic or strategy, counsel unreasonably failed to challenge the method of jury pool selection, and the lower court erred in failing to afford an evidentiary hearing." **Brief of Appellant** at 96. <u>No where</u> in Claim

XXI of his 3.850 motion did Young allege the ineffective assistance of counsel. Thus, he cannot make it for the first time on appeal. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Regardless, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious claim. <u>See</u> <u>Chandler</u>, 634 So. 2d 1068. This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

٠

r 1.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM VIII, RELATING TO THE PROPRIETY OF PENALTY-PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS (Restated).

In Claim VIII of his second amended 3.850 motion, Young alleged that the trial court improperly instructed his sentencing jury that mitigating factors must outweigh aggravating factors, which shifted the burden to Young to prove that life imprisonment was the appropriate penalty. (PCR VII 1186-89). In denying this claim, the trial court made the following findings:

> Defendant's Claim VIII, relating to instructions allegation that the jury improperly shifted the burden to him to prove that the mitigating factors outweighed the aggravating factors, is procedurally barred, since it could have been raised on direct appeal. See Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). Defendant may not escape the bar by merely claiming that his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to raise a proper objection. Id. In any event, Defendant has failed to prove deficient conduct or prejudice since this claim has been previously raised and rejected in other cases. E.g., Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 308 (Fla. 1990) ("[T]he standard instructions [do not] impermissibly put any particular burden of proof on capital defendants."), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 992 (1991).

(PCR VIII 1306).

()

The record supports the trial court's ruling. This is a classic procedurally barred claim. Young's single-sentence, conclusory allegation that, "[t]o the extent that counsel failed to object, Mr. Young received the ineffective assistance of counsel," (PCR VII 1189), was legally insufficient to overcome the procedural bar. <u>See Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990) ("A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel."). Regardless, this Court has repeatedly rejected this claim, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 304, 308 (Fla. 1990); therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious claim. <u>See Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994). This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

•

<u>ISSUE IX</u>

•

· · ·

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL AS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT OF CLAIM IV, RELATING TO APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE IS INNOCENT OF FIRST-DEGREE MURDER (Restated).

Young framed Claim IV of his second amended 3.850 motion as one of actual innocence, but alleged that he could not plead this claim fully until the State disclosed its improperly withheld documents. Thus, Young's claim contained only two paragraphs. (PCR VII 1147). In denying this claim, the trial court found that it was legally insufficient on its face because it lacked sufficient factual and legal support. (PCR VIII 1298).

On appeal, Young now has three and a half pages of argument <u>on</u> <u>the merits of this claim</u>. **Brief of Appellant** at 98-101. It is well-settled, however, that a defendant may not raise arguments on appeal that were not made in the trial court. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Therefore, these arguments were not properly preserved for appeal.

Regardless, Appellant does nothing more than re-argue his direct appeal claims that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for first-degree murder under either a premeditated or felony murder theory. This Court rejected those arguments on direct appeal. <u>Young v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1991). Appellant may not use his 3.850 appeal as a second direct appeal on

this issue. <u>See Zeigler v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1995) (finding "actual innocence" claim procedurally barred). Therefore, this Court should affirm the denial of this claim.

.

т. **к**

•

.

<u>ISSUE X</u>

* *

WHETHER APPELLANT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW HIS CLAIM THAT HE IS INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY (Restated).

In this appeal, Appellant frames this issue as "Mr. Young is innocent of the death penalty." He alleges that he is innocent of the death penalty because (1) neither the "pecuniary gain" nor the "avoid arrest" nor the "felony murder" aggravators were proven at trial, (2) the "avoid arrest" aggravator was overbroadly applied because the trial court did not apply the limiting construction, (3) the "avoid arrest" instruction was vague and overbroad, and (4) his sentence is disproportionate. **Brief of Appellant** at 101-08. Young made no such claim in his 3.850 motion. Thus, the trial court was not given the opportunity to consider these arguments as Young has presented them to this Court. Since Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review, this Court should deny this claim. Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

As in Issue IX of this appeal, Appellant is merely re-arguing direct appeal issues--some of which he did raise and some of which he could have raised. Appellant challenged the "avoid arrest" finding and proportionality. This Court rejected both arguments. Young v. State, 579 So. 2d 721, 724 (Fla. 1991). He could have, but did not, challenge the "pecuniary gain" and "felony murder" aggravators and/or their instructions. He may not, however, use

postconviction (more specifically the appeal therefrom) to relitigate these claims. <u>Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994).

.

• •

т **н**

۱ •

<u>ISSUE XI</u>

, '

. .

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT CLAIM XXIX, RELATING TO APPELLANT'S ALLEGED INABILITY TO INTERVIEW WITHOUT THE COURT'S PERMISSION THE JURORS IN HIS CASE (Restated).

In Claim XXIX of his second amended 3.850 motion, Young alleged that an unspecified ethical rule prevented his collateral counsel from interviewing his trial jurors, and thus chilled his ability to investigate possible misconduct. He wanted the trial court to "declare this ethical rule invalid . . . and to allow [him] unfettered discretion to interview the jurors in this case." (PCR VII 1247-47A). In denying this claim, the trial court made the following findings:

> In Claim XXIX, Defendant claims that Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4 – 3.5(d)(4) restricted his collateral counsel's ability to investigate and raise claims which prove his conviction and sentence invalid, and sought this Court to declare this ethical rule invalid and to allow him unfettered discretion to interview the jurors in this case. This Court finds that the Defendant has failed to plead a claim for relief under Rule 3.850. The Rules are promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court to regulate members of the Florida Bar. The Defendant is not a member of the Bar. Therefore, the Defendant does not have standing to challenge the applicability of a rule that does not govern him directly. Moreover, the law allows juror interviews under certain circumstances. See Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.431(h). The Defendant's inability to meet the requirements of this rule does not render his attorney exempt from the rules of professional conduct, nor does it render his conviction and sentence constitutionally

infirm. Therefore, this claim is hereby denied.

(PCR VIII 1312-13).

1 6

The trial court properly denied this claim. As it noted in its written order, the law allows juror interviews under certain circumstances. See Roland v. State, 584 So. 2d 68, 70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (finding no criminal rule allowing for postverdict juror interviews, but noting application for such by motion "as a matter of practice"); Sconvers v. State, 513 So. 2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (construing criminal rules to allow postverdict juror interviews upon motion which makes a prima facie showing of juror misconduct); cf. Gilliam v. State, 582 So. 2d 610, 611 (Fla. 1991) (affirming denial of defendant's motion to conduct postverdict interview of jurors where defendant failed to make prima facie showing of misconduct); Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 94 (Fla. (affirming denial of defendant's motion to conduct 1991) postverdict interview of jurors); Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.431(h) ("A party who believes that grounds for legal challenge to a verdict exists may move for an order permitting an interview of a juror or jurors to determine whether the verdict is subject to challenge."). If Young had made a prima facie showing of misconduct, he could have obtained juror interviews. His inability to meet the requirements, however, did not affect the constitutionality of his conviction and sentence. Therefore, this claim was properly denied and should be affirmed.

ISSUE XII

, , ,

. '

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CLAIM VI, RELATING TO THIS COURT'S HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS AFTER STRIKING THE CCP AGGRAVATOR (Restated).

In Claim VI of his second amended 3.850 motion, Young claimed that this Court had failed to perform an adequate harmless error analysis after striking the CCP aggravator. (PCR VII 1165-67). The trial court denied the claim, finding that it was not a cognizable claim for relief. (PCR VIII 1303-04). The trial court's ruling was proper. In <u>Hardwick v. Dugger</u>, 648 So. 2d 100, 103 (Fla. 1994), this Court affirmed the denial of an identical claim, holding that the trial court has no authority to review the actions of this Court. As in <u>Hardwick</u>, this Court should affirm the denial of this claim.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for postconviction relief.